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Notice of Meeting
Notice is hereby given that the Annual Meeting of Shareholders of National Investment Trust Ltd (‘the Company”) will be held 
on Tuesday 19 December 2023 at 10.00 a.m at the Caudan Arts Centre Port Louis, to transact the following business. 

Executive Services Limited  
Per Christian Angseesing 
Company Secretary
28 November 2023

Agenda

By Ordinary Resolution

1.        To approve the Minutes of Proceedings of the Annual Meeting of Shareholders held on 7th December 2022.

2.        To receive, consider and approve the Company’s audited financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2023,
            including the Annual Report and the Auditor’s report, in accordance with section 115(4) of the Companies Act 2001.

3-7.    To re-elect, as Directors of the Company to hold office until the next annual meeting of the shareholders, the following  
          persons who offer themselves for re-election (as separate resolutions):

 - Mrs Amélie Vitry Audibert
 - Mrs Priscilla Balgobin-Bhoyrul
 - Mr Teddy Blackburn
 - Mr Kooshiramsing Bussawah
 - Mr Veenay Rambarassah

8.        To appoint, as Director of the Company to hold office until the next annual meeting of the shareholders, 
           Mr Dheerendra Kumar Dabee who was nominated by the Board of Directors on 7 September 2023.

9.        To appoint Moore as auditors of the Company until the next Annual Meeting and to authorise the Board of  
           Directors to fix their remuneration.

10.      To transact such other business, if any, as may be transacted at an Annual Meeting.

Notes:

1. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at this meeting may appoint a proxy (whether a member or not)  
   to attend and vote on his behalf. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company. The appointment of a  proxy must 
   be made in writing on a proxy form and deposited at the Registered Office of  the Company, Level 8 Newton Tower, Sir 
   William Newton Street, Port Louis not less than twenty-four hours before the meeting, and in default, the instrument of 
   proxy shall not be treated as valid.

2. For the purpose of this Annual meeting, the Directors have resolved, in compliance with Section 120(3) of the Companies 
   Act 2001, that the shareholders who are entitled to receive notice of the meeting and attend such meeting shall be those 



6 NIT Annual Report 2023

Certificate from the Secretary

Under Section 166(d) of the Companies Act 2001

I certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, National Investment Trust Ltd (the “Company”) has filed with 
the Registrar of Companies, all such returns as are required of the Company under the Mauritius Companies Act 
2001 for the year ended 30 June 2023

Executive Services Limited  
Per Christian Angseesing 
Company Secretary
27 September 2023
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Chairman’s Statement  
Dear Shareholders:
As we celebrate our 30th anniversary, it is a great privilege for me to present you, on behalf of the Board of Directors the 
June 2023 Annual Report. 

Strategy & Value Creation

The last year and a half saw the company engaged in the execution of the restructuring plan approved by our shareholders in 
December 2021 which includes, the realization and distribution of the company’s saleable investments, the implementation of 
a voluntary retirement scheme for the employees and, the onboarding of a Strategic Partner to help grow the fund 
management business. The rationale behind such a comprehensive plan being to put the company back on solid footing 
to ensure that it is able to pay an attractive and sustainable dividend to its shareholders going forward.

At NIT, we know that creating value cannot be limited simply to maximizing the company’s share price in the short term 
and that ultimately, shareholder value can only be increased when expectations of the company’s future performance 
increase from its current level. This is why, our strategy which at its core involves the separation of the investment company 
from the CIS Manager, aims at optimizing our profitability by creating a leaner and more efficient organization. Developing 
our fund management segment, curtailing our cost of operations, and, continuously improving our governance structure 
are key for our future. We sincerely believe that this is the only way for the company to be able to transform the challenges 
it faces into opportunities.

Implementation-wise, following the sale of a significant part of the company’s investment portfolio, a first, cash distribution 
of Rs 10.10 per share and capital repayment of Rs 7.30 per share, were paid to our shareholders in March 2022 and May 2023 
respectively. We intend to complete the capital repayment process before the end of the calendar year and, kick start the 
phase 2 distribution in 2024. As the dust settles, the surviving investment will be SICOM Ltd and the Board remains committed 
to continue exploring all possible avenues to continue unlocking value to our shareholders.

Distribution Update: 

Amount distributed 
Rs

Per Circular
Rs

(Expected) completed 
date

Phase 1 10.10 9.50 Q1 2022

Capital Repayment 7.30
7.91

Q1 2023
0.61 End of 2023

Phase 2 (Expected) 4.88 4.49 Starting in 2024
Total 22.89 21.90
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Value Creation since start of Restructure:

Financial Review

As stated above, the company is currently in a transition period and, the financial performance during the year under review 
should be viewed through this lens. Bearing this in mind, from an operational perspective, the Company’s results continue to be 
quite encouraging as, compared to at a similar date last year, the Net Asset Value remained more or less stable at Rs 38.00 per 
share after factoring in the capital repayment made in May 2023. As for the profit after tax for the year, it amounted to Rs 9.3m 
compared to Rs 312.9m a year ago following a significantly lower unrealized gain of Rs 13.1m recorded on our investment made 
in SICOM Ltd (2022: Rs 305.8m).

At balance sheet date, the company’s portfolio of investment was classified into two categories namely, our 12% holding in 
SICOM and, the investment made in two private equity vehicles which focus on special/distressed assets in the Asia Pacific 
region

Investment Portfolio Overview 30/06/23
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Financial Summary 2022
MUR
(M)

2021
MUR
(M)

2020
MUR
(M)

2019
MUR
(M)

2018
MUR
(M)

2017
MUR
(M)

Net Asset Value 7,384.8 7,275.7 6,284.2 6,398.9 5,647.0 5,431.9
Distributable Earnings 526.3 544.8 471.5 518.0 436.7 417.0

Pay-out ratio (%) 30.0 25.0 25.0 37.5 37.5 37.5

Dividend amount 
received by NIT 18.9 16.3 14.3 23.3 19.7 18.8

SICOM Ltd

In wake of the restructuring process, BDO carried out a desktop valuation of NIT’s 12% equity stake in SICOM in 
November 2021. Since SICOM’s June 2023 accounts were not yet available at the date of writing of this report, the 
same methodology and, the 2022 figures were used for valuation purposes. 

As at June 2022, SICOM’s net asset value increased by 1% to reach Rs 7.4bn. Consequently, NIT’s 12% stake was valued 
at Rs 886.2m, i.e., an increase of around Rs 13.1m compared to the previous year. From an income perspective, SICOM’s 
distributable earnings (i.e., excluding unrealized gains/losses on investment) decreased by Rs 18.5m to reach Rs 526.3m 
principally on the back of rising operational costs which shot up by 20% compared to 2021. With SICOM increasing its 
dividend pay-out from 25% to 30%, NIT received a dividend of Rs 18.9m during the financial year under review (2021: 
Rs 16.3m).

Underlying Investment Value as @ 30 June 2023
Rs m

LIM 2 One Shipping Asset 14.5
LIM 3 High Yield & Distressed Bonds 84.3

 
-The LIM Funds

These are private equity vehicles which focus on special/distressed assets primarily in the Asia Pacific region. At 30 June 
2023, the fair value of these investments in our books were as follows:

LIM 2 exited its last investment after balance sheet date and, a final distribution of around USD 0.3m was received in 
August 2023. In USD terms, a return of 65% was registered on this investment over an eight year period (i.e. inception 
date, August 2015).  

As for LIM 3 which invests in high yield and distressed bonds with a focus on the Asia Pacific region, the fund continued 
to suffer from the poor market environment for these type of assets following aggressive tightening by central bankers 
to fade off inflationary pressures and, China’s growth prospects weakening significantly. Having said that, in USD terms, 
our investment in this particular vehicle is still up 12% since inception date (i.e., January 2019).

Being given the fact that LIM 3 is in an investment period until 1 July 2024 and that, according to the partnership agreement 
contributions are contractual, NIT reached an agreement with the Manager in 2021 to net off all coming distributions 
against future capital calls (if any) until that date. As at 30 June 2023, such receivables from LIM 3 amounted to around 
USD 0.8m.
Fund Management Activities
With the development of this segment at the heart of our restructuring plan, Orange Eight Ltd was appointed as Strategic 
Partner not only to provide advice on investment matters but also to help grow the fund management business by bringing 
in new investors in the NIT Funds. The objective here, is to atleast double the assets under management over the next three 
years. Together with the strategic partner, NIT has been working on a strategy including among other things, a revamp of 
our product offering, to help us achieve our goal. As stated above, the set objective here, is for the company to be able to 
cover its operating expenses from the revenue generated from this segment in the near term.

From an investment perspective, investors entered 2023 with optimism that a hard landing/recession would likely be 
avoided, and that, the inflation fight in the U.S. was won and over. As a result, the thinking was that the Fed would soon 
pivot and start decreasing interest rates thereby resulting in a V-shaped recovery in equity markets following last year’s 
selloffs.
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The wake-up call came in July 2023 when the prospect of interest rates remaining higher for longer started to weigh on 
the market as, inflationary pressures in the U.S., especially in the services sector,  failed to subside as expected. As at the 
date of writing of this report, the MSCI World is down 7% in USD terms over the past three months as bond yields spiked 
significantly. Excluding Apple, Microsoft, Alphabet, Amazon, Tesla, Nvidia and Meta, the S&P 500 would essentially be flat 
year to date, reflecting the narrowness of the 2023 market rally which seems to be running out of steam.

Although Mauritius is an island, it is certainly not immune from developments on the international scene. One important 
ramification has been occurring on the currency front where, for nearly two years now, the Bank of Mauritius has had to 
intervene massively to stabilize the local currency against a surging USD.

For us, as fund manager, investment risk management, which aids in the smoothing of returns for our investors, is as 
important as the goal of obtaining above-peer and above-benchmark returns. As such, against such a backdrop, we are still 
avoiding cyclical plays and remaining defensive in our approach.

Performances as at 26/10/23:

Funds 1 month
(%)

3 months
(%)

1 Year
(%)

3 Years
(%)

5 Years
(%)

AUM
Rs m

Overseas (0.5) (3.5) 1.6 27.2 54.8 240
Local - 2.7 1.4 43.6 - 240

Outlook

As we continue to build for the future, we remain vigilant of the prevailing uncertain macroeconomic environment. We are 
planning with a financially sustainable mindset, and are confident that our strategy is well adapted to such challenging 
times. We will continue to focus on the development of our fund management activities and, remain resolute in our 
endeavor to write a new chapter of the company’s history.

Celebrating 30 Years and Beyond

Our past has demonstrated our resilience during difficult times. We believe in our values and, have our stakeholders at 
heart. We are committed to continue making every effort to ensure a bright future.
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Veenay Rambarassah
Chairman

31 October 2023
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Statement of Compliance
(Section 75(3) of the Financial Reporting Act)

Reporting Period: 1st July 2022 to 30th June 2023

The National Investment Trust Ltd is a public interest entity and is required to adopt and report on Corporate Governance 
Principles in accordance with the National Code of Corporate Governance 2016 (the ‘Code’).

Throughout the year ended 30 June 2023, to the best of the Board’s knowledge, the Company has complied with all 
its obligations and requirements under the Corporate Governance Code of Mauritius (2016) except for those mentioned 
below:

Veenay Rambarassah
Chairman

27 September 2023

Principles Areas of the Code and Reasons for non-compliance

Principle 2 – Board Composition – Independent 
Chairperson, number of Independent Directors & 
number of Executive Directors

The Board is of the view that the individual profile of each 
Director ensures that the current Board composition is 
adequate and that, as a unit, the Board is able to carry out 
its functions in complete objectivity.

Principle 7: Audit- Internal audit function The internal audit function is outsourced by the Board 
so that an independent exercise can be carried out on a 
regular basis.

Teddy Blackburn
Director
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NATIONAL INVESTMENT TRUST LTD

NATIONAL INVESTMENT TRUST LTD (NIT) is a public Company incorporated in the Republic of Mauritius on 18 March 
1993 and a public interest entity as per section 75 of the Financial Reporting Act 2004. Disclosures included in this report 
are in line with the prevailing Code of Corporate Governance for Mauritius (The National Code of Corporate Governance 
for Mauritius (2016)).

Its registered office is situated at Level 8 Newton Tower, Sir William Newton Street, Port Louis.

Company’s Philosophy

The Company is committed to the conduct of business practices that display characteristics of good corporate governance, 
namely business integrity, transparency, independence, accountability, fairness and professionalism in all its activities and 
ensures that its organisation and operations are managed ethically and responsibly to enhance business value for
its shareholders and other stakeholders.

Principle 1- Governance Structure 

Good Governance is a fundamental part of the basic principles which have always been applied by the Company and forms 
an intrinsic part of its Corporate Policy. The Board views adherence to high standards of corporate governance as an es- 
sential condition to upholding its long-term business sustainability and creating value for the Company’s stakeholders and 
society at large. In this respect, the Company’s views of Corporate governance go beyond the compliance function and 
aims at incorporating the principles of the Code in its strategy and activities.

The Board provides ethical and effective leadership from the top, in the way it conducts itself and oversees the business 
and affairs of the Company. It also promotes a culture whereby the principles of integrity, accountability and transparency 
are embraced by all employees within the Company.

A Board Charter was approved by the Board on 26 October 2020.

A copy of NIT’s Constitution is available on the Company’s website – www.nitmru.com

Shareholding Structure

The stated capital of the Company as at 30 June 2023 consisted of 27,405,000 ordinary shares of MUR 1 each.

Main Shareholders

The largest shareholders of NIT Ltd. at 30 June 2023 were as follows:
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Number of Shareholders Category of Shareholders No. of Shares Owned % of Total Issued Shares

7,273 Local 19,861,636 72
36 Foreign 7,543,364 28
7,309 27,405,000 100

Shareholding Profile

The share ownership and the categories of shareholders at 30 June 2023 are set out below:

Number of  Shareholders Size of  Shareholding No. of shares Owned % of Total Issued Shares
7,141 1 –10,000 shares 4,091,265 15

133 10,001 – 100,000 shares 4,308,267 15

35 > 100,000 shares 19,005,468 70

7,309 27,405,000 100

Number of Shareholders Category of Shareholders No. of Shares Owned % of Total Issued Shares

7,170 Individuals 10,064,948 37
8 Insurance Companies 550,050 2
13 Private Pension and Provident Funds 1,331,946 5
26 Investment and Trust Companies 1,464,149 5
89 Other Private Corporate Bodies 7,417,919 27
3 Other Public Sector 6,575,988 24
7,309 27,405,000 100

Organisational Structure
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Principle 2- Structure of The Board And Its Committees

The Board Composition

The Company has a unitary Board, currently comprising of three (3) independent non-executive directors, one (1) non-
executive director and one (1) executive director. The directors come from diverse business backgrounds and possess the
necessary knowledge, skills, objectivity, integrity, experience and commitment to make sound judgements on various key
issues relevant to the business of the Company, independent of management.

The Board intends to appoint another independent non-executive director and, executive director during the current 
financial year.

The Board of NIT is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company and is aware of its responsibility 
to ensure that the Company adheres to all relevant legislation, complies with the rules of the Official Market of the Stock 
Exchange of Mauritius and that the principles of good governance are followed and applied throughout the Company.

The Directors perform their duties, responsibilities and powers to the extent permitted by law. They also ensure that their 
other responsibilities do not impinge on their responsibilities as a Director of NIT.

The Board has unrestricted access to the records of the Company and also has the right to seek independent professional 
advice, at the expense of the Company, to enable it to discharge its responsibility effectively.

All the Directors reside in Mauritius. The Board members consist of 3 males and 2 females in terms of gender in the company. 
As regards to the gender balance the board is working towards achieving same as one of the directors is a woman. 

Meetings

The Board has at least four scheduled meetings each year. In addition, special meetings may be called from time to time as 
determined by the needs of the business. It is the responsibility of the Directors to attend meetings.

Board meetings are convened by giving appropriate notice after obtaining approval of the Chairman. As a general rule, 
detailed agenda, management reports and other explanatory statements are circulated in advance amongst the Directors 
to facilitate meaningful, informed and focused decisions at the meetings. To address specific urgent business needs, 
meetings are at times called at shorter notice.

The Directors may ask for any explanations or the production of additional information and, more generally, submit to the 
Chairman any request for information or access to information which might appear to be appropriate to him/her 

A quorum of 4 Directors is currently required for a Board meeting.

In addition to the Directors, Senior Management is invited at each Board meeting of the Company.

The minutes of the proceedings of each Board meeting are recorded by the Company Secretary and are entered in the 
Minutes Book. The minutes of each Board meeting are submitted for confirmation at its next meeting and these are then 
signed by the Chairman and the Company Secretary.
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2.1 Role and Function of the Chairperson 

The Chairperson of the Board is primarily responsible for the activities of the Board and its committee. He acts as the 
spokesperson for the Board and is the principal contact for Management. The Chairperson of the Board and the Chief 
Executive Officer meet regularly. The Chairperson of the Board presides over the Annual Meeting of shareholders.

The Chairperson ensures that:

• the Board satisfies its duties;
• Board members, when appointed, are briefed by the Chief Executive Officer;
• the Board members receive all information necessary for them to perform their duties;
• the Agenda of Board meetings are determined;
• the Board meetings are chaired in an effective manner;
• the Board has sufficient time for consultation and decision-making; 
• minutes are kept of Board and Committee meetings;
• the Committee(s)function properly;
• there is consultation with external advisors appointed by the Board;
• the performance of the Board and its members is evaluated regularly;
• internal disputes and conflicts of interest concerning individual Board members are addressed, as well as the possible 

resignation of such members as a result; and the Board has proper contact with the Management.
• neither presides any Committees set up by Board and nor being a member. 

2.2 Role & Function of the Chief Executive Officer 

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for guiding the implementation of the Board strategy and policy with respect to the 
Company’s business. The Chief Executive Officer reports to the Board of Directors. 
2.3 Role and Function Management
• implementing the overall strategy of the Board and respective Committees;
• directing the daily operating and investment activities of the Company;
• monitoring financial or operational performance of individual investments to ensure portfolios meet risk goals;
• evaluating the potential of new investment opportunities;
• the proper valuation of the Company’s investments including the development and monitoring of valuation guidelines;
• responding to regulatory compliance;
• overseeing the finance, accounting and reporting functions;
• attending Board and Committee meetings and provide report on performance of the Company and analysis of local  
              and foreign markets;

2.4 Role and Function of Company Secretary

The Company Secretary sees to it that the Board follows correct procedures and that the Board complies with its 
obligations under the Company’s Constitution and law, including the Companies Act 2001 namely:

• providing the Board with guidance as to its duties, responsibilities and powers;
• informing the Board of all legislation relevant to or affecting meetings of shareholders and Directors and  
            reporting at any meetings and the filing of any documents required of the company and any failure to   
            comply with such legislation;
• ensuring that minutes of all meetings of shareholders or Directors are properly recorded in accordance with 
             paragraph 8 of the Fifth Schedule and all statutory registers be properly maintained;
• certifying the return to be filed, together with the Company’s annual financial statements with the Registrar of 
             Companies and any other returns required;
• ensuring that a copy of the Company’s annual financial statements and, where applicable, the annual report is 
             sent, in accordance with sections 219 and 220, to every person entitled to such statements or report.

The Company Secretary also assists the Chairperson of the Board in organising the Board’s activities (including providing 
information, preparing an agenda, reporting of meetings, evaluations and training programs).
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2.5 Role of the Non-Executive & Independent Non-Executive Director

The non-executive directors make a significant contribution to the functioning of the Board, thereby ensuring that no one 
individual or group dominates the decision-making process.

2.6 Board and Committees Attendance

As from 01 July 2022 to 30 June 2023, directors’ attendance was as follows: 

 

*Directors were not re-elected on 07 December 2022

Board Committees 

The Code provides for the establishment of an Audit Committee as a minimum. The Board of NIT is ultimately responsible 
for the performance of the Company and on 2 June 2020 has established the following committees to assist it in its 
decision-making process and help it to carry out all its duties and responsibilities:

• Audit Committee (AC)
• Corporate Governance & Remuneration Committee (CGC)

Each Committee acts according to its respective Charter approved by the Board on 26 October 2020 and reports to the Board 
on matters discussed at Committee meetings. The respective Committee Charters will be reassessed by the Board every year. 
The Company Secretary acts as secretary to the Board Committees.

Audit Committee (AC)

The AC was set up to provide a link between the Board and the external auditor and also reviews the Company’s Risk 
Management function. 

The AC Charter, approved by the Board, sets out the terms of reference of the Committee.  The Chairperson of the Committee 
informs the board of Directors of any matter which, in its opinion, the Board should be made aware of.

The members of the AC are:

• Vinod Bussawah (Chairperson)
• Amélie Vitry Audibert
• Priscilla Balgobin-Bhoyrul

The AC roles and responsibilities, per its Charter, include reviewing the appropriateness of the Company’s accounting policies, 
assessing the effectiveness of the internal control processes, reviewing the financial statements and the reporting function, 
ensuring compliance with relevant laws and regulations, discussing the results of the external audit processes with the external 
auditors, and with the support of the external auditor. 

As may be required, the AC also meets with the external auditor without the presence of Management. The external auditor 
has free access to the AC to report on any matters or findings. 

Board Audit 
Committee

Corporate Governance 
Committee

Directors Classification
Mr. V Rambarassah Non-Executive 15 out of 15 N/A N/A

Mrs. A Vitry Audibert Independent Non-Executive 14 out of 15 2 out of 3 3 out of 3

Mr. K Bussawah Independent Non-Executive 15 out of 15 3 out of 3 3 out of 3

Mrs P. Balgobin-Bhoyrul Independent Non-Executive 5 out of 5 N/A N/A

Mr. T Blackburn Executive 10 out of 10 N/A N/A

Mr. A Kathrada* Non-Executive 10 out of 10 3 out of 3 2 out of 2

Mr. R Koenig* Non-Executive 0 out of 10 N/A N/A

Mr. S Pitot* Non-Executive 0 out of 10 N/A N/A
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Corporate Governance Committee (CGC)

The CGC is committed to best practices of corporate governance and also acts as Nomination and Remuneration Committee. 
The CGC’s terms of reference are defined in its Charter approved by the Board. The Chairperson of the Committee informs the 
Board of Directors of any matter which, in its opinion, the Board should be made aware of. 

The members of the CGC are:

• Amélie Vitry Audibert (Chairperson)

• Priscilla Balgobin-Bhoyrul

• Vinod Bussawah

The main objective of the CGC is to review and make recommendations to the Board in relation to Corporate Governance 
matter of the Company including fulfilling its oversight responsibilities for the Company’s compliance with the Code.

Investment Committee (IC)

The IC, in accordance with its Charter approved by the Board, has been set up to review that the investment policies 
being adopted by Management is in line with the Board’s strategy and, the applicable regulatory restrictions. It also 
considers avenues which may give opportunities for growth. 

With the Company currently undergoing a restructuring process, the Board as a unit has taken the function of the IC.
   
Principle 3-Directors’ Appointment Procedures

Appointment & Induction 

The Board assumes the responsibilities for the appointment and induction of new directors to the Board. Newly appointed 
Directors are then subject to election by shareholders at the Company’s Annual Meeting in their first year of appointment.

Whenever appointments are considered, the Board reviews its structure, size and composition, to ensure that the Board has 
a diverse mix of competencies, knowledge and experience, in order to enrich Board discussions from different perspectives 
and thus improve the quality of decision making.

All new Directors receive a full, formal and tailored induction on joining the Board, including meetings with senior manage-
ment and visits to the Company’s operational locations.

Succession Planning 

The Corporate Governance Committee shall consider a set of criteria for the selection of prospective directors and key 
employees in view of the needs and strategic orientations of the Company, alongside considering gender diversity in its 
assessment. These, amongst others, relate to their knowledge base, competencies, experience, time commitment, ethics 
and values which provide the basis for assessing prospective successors for the Board and key employees.
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The profiles of the Board members as at end of the financial year under review are given hereunder. Their directorships 
in other listed companies (where applicable) are also provided. 

Veenay Rambarassah 
Chairman
Mr. Veenay Rambarassah is Director of Investment at the National Pensions Fund of Mauritius, managing the portfolio of all 
the funds falling under the National Pensions Scheme. Prior to his service at the National Pensions Fund of Mauritius, Mr. 
Veenay was a Project Finance Manager for Ebene Cybercity Project in Mauritius. He is also a Director of Port Louis Fund and 
Chairman of the Eastern Southern African Trade Development Bank and Eastern Southern African Trade Finance Fund.
He holds a MSc. in Finance and Investment and ACCA designation and has over 20 years of experience, primarily in the finance 
and accounting field.

Directorship in other listed companies: None

Amélie Vitry Audibert 
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mrs. Amélie Vitry Audibert holds an International MBA from Paris Dauphine/ IAE Sorbonne, together with, Master Degrees 
in Social Sciences/Economy and Human Resources Management from FASSE Institut Catholique de Paris. She has nearly 18 
years of experience in the Operation, Communications and Human Resources fields with several high-profile companies in 
the private sector. Currently, she is a freelance Consultant in Leadership and a Certified Hedo-Coach by PREFACE, Belgium.

Directorship in other listed companies: None

Priscilla Balgobin-Bhoyrul
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mrs Priscilla Balgobin-Bhoyrul is a barrister at law with more than 20 years of experience. She is a Graduate of the London 
School of Economics and Political Science and has been called both to the Bar of England and Wales at the Middle Temple 
in 1998 and to the Mauritian Bar in 1999. Mrs Balgobin-Bhoyrul is currently a Senior Partner at Dentons Mauritius and 
heads its Financial Institution practice group for Africa. 

Directorship in other listed companies: Alteo Limited & Caudan Development Ltd

Kooshiramsing Bussawah 

 Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr Kooshiramsingh Bussawah holds a MBA in Finance & a Diploma in Corporate Governance. He is a finance professional with 
over 25 years of experience at senior management level with reputed organisations in Mauritius and the region. Mr Bussawah 
is currently the Chief Operating Officer of Mauritius Finance. He has acquired wide experience in the Association of Trust and 
Management Companies, The Mauritius Chamber of Agriculture, ACCA Mauritius, LCA Mauritius, Crestanks Ltd(Uganda) His 
professional membership are FCCA, member of Mauritius Institute of Directors (MIOD) and a registered professional accountant 
with Mauritius Institute of Public Accountants(MIPA).

Directorship in other listed companies: None 

Teddy Blackburn
Executive Director/Chief Executive Officer

Mr Blackburn holds Master degrees in Economics and Applied Finance from Australia and, is also a Fellow Associate of 
the Financial Services Institute of Australasia. He joined the company in 2001 as an Investment Analyst and, was appointed as 
CEO in November 2021. In addition to being responsible for the operations of the company, Mr Blackburn also oversees 
all the company’s investment and fund management activities.

Directorship in other listed companies: None
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Principle 4- Directors’ Duties, Remuneration and Performance

Performance Evaluation & Professional Development

The Board considers regular training and development needs of Directors and senior management, as appropriate, to 
ensure constant professional update.
One such exercise will be carried out before the end of the calendar year.

Directors’ and Officers’ Interest in NIT Shares

In accordance with the Companies Act 2001, written records of the interests of the Directors and their closely related 
parties in NIT shares are kept in a Register of Directors’ Interests. Consequently, as soon as a Director becomes aware 
that he is interested in a transaction, or that his holdings or his associates’ holdings have changed, the interest should be 
reported to the Company in writing. The Register of Interests is updated with any subsequent transactions entered into 
by the Directors and persons closely associated with them and available for inspection by the shareholders upon written 
request to the Company Secretary.

All new Directors are required to notify in writing to the Company Secretary their direct and indirect holdings in NIT’s 
shares. According to NIT’s Constitution, a Director is not required to hold shares in the Company.

Moreover, as pursuant to the Securities Act 2005, NIT registered itself as a reporting issuer with the Financial Services Commission 
(“FSC”) and makes every effort to follow the relevant disclosure requirements. The Company keeps a Register of its Insiders and 
the said register is updated with the notification of interest in securities submitted by the Directors, the Officers and the other 
Insiders of NIT Ltd.

The Directors/Senior Management of NIT have no direct and/or indirect interests in the ordinary shares of the Company

Directors’ and Officers’ Dealings in NIT Shares 

The Directors of NIT use their best endeavors to follow the rules of the Official Market of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius.

The Directors and officers of the Company are prohibited from dealing in the shares of NIT at any time when in possession of 
unpublished price-sensitive information, or for the period of one month prior to the publication of the Company’s quarterly 
and yearly results and to the announcement of dividends and distributions to be paid or passed, as the case may be, and 
ending on the date of such publications/announcements. The restrictions on dealings by a director during closed periods are 
equally applicable to any dealings by the Director’s associates. It is the duty of the Directors to seek to avoid any such dealing 
at a time when he himself is not free to deal.

Moreover, Directors and officers of NIT are also required to observe the insider trading laws at all times, even when dealing 
in securities within permitted trading periods.

Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance and Indemnification

The Directors and Officers of NIT are covered by an indemnity insurance cover.

Remuneration  Philosophy 

The Corporate Governance Committee has the responsibility for reviewing the remuneration of key executives. The level 
of remuneration is based on market trend and is reviewed on a regular basis. The Board is transparent, fair and consistent in 
determining the remuneration policy for Directors and key executives. The remuneration of key executives is generally aligned 
with the salary packages in the industry. The Company believes that adequate remuneration is essential to attracting and 
retaining talent and to motivating our key executives to perform at their best.

Directors Remuneration 

All Directors of NIT Ltd receive a Board remuneration consisting of a fixed monthly fee and, an attendance fee. Any 
changes to Board remuneration are submitted to the Annual Meeting of Shareholders for approval.

The Board fees for the year under review were:
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The current monthly remuneration of Rs 12,000 for Chairman and Rs 8,500 for all other Directors is supplemented by an 
attendance fee of Rs 11,500 and Rs 9,000 per meeting respectively. 

Since January 2022, the fees for the Board committees are Rs 4,000 and Rs 3,000 per sitting for the Chairperson and the 
members respectively.

Senior Executives

The Company’s policy for determining remuneration for Senior Executives is to:

• Provide a remuneration package that retains and motivates key personnel;

• Ensure that pay levels are internally consistent and are aligned with market rates.

During the year under review, no Director has received remuneration in the form of share options or bonuses associated 
with organisational performance.

Information Governance

With the coming into force of the Data Protection Act 2017 in January 2018, the company has endeavoured to reinforce 
the safety and security measures in place to protect the data it collects, stores and processes. 

The Company continuously seeks to foster a robust framework that upholds the security and performance of informa-
tion and IT systems in adherence to regulatory and industry norms. 

In this respect, the Board, ensures that set policies, which are regularly reviewed, are duly implemented by Management 
to manage associated risks, backed by fitting structures, processes and resources.

Related Party Transaction 

Transactions with related parties are disclosed in detail in note 19 of the Financial Statements. Adequate care was taken 
to ensure that the potential conflict of interest did not harm the interests of the Company.

Remuneration received during the Financial Year
(Rs)

Directors
Mr. V Rambarassah (Chairman) 316,500

Mrs. A Vitry Audibert 246,000

Mr K. Bussawah 258,000

Mrs P. Balgobin-Bhoyrul 87,500

Mr T. Blackburn (Executive) N/A

Mr. A Kathrada 141,500

Mr. R Koenig 42,500

Mr. S Pitot 42,500

2023
Annual Directors’ fee Rs 1,125,275
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Principle 5 -Risk Governance and Internal Control 

Risk Management 

The Company is constantly faced with a variety of risks, which could adversely affect its performance and financial condition. 

The Board is ultimately responsible for the system of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness. The Board confirms 
that there is an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the various risks faced by the Company. 

Management analyses investments and divestments decisions and recommends them to the Board after having analysed 
all inherent risks, in terms of returns to be realised, future growth etc.

Some of the prominent risks to which the Company is exposed are:

Financial risk

These risks comprise of market risks (including currency risks, interest rate risks and price risks), credit risks and liquidity 
risks as reported in note 3 of the financial Statements. 

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding through an adequate 
amount of committed credit facilities. The Company aims at maintaining flexibility in funding by keeping reliable credit lines 
available. Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Company’s liquidity reserve on the basis of expected cash flows.

Operational risk

These risks are defined as the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or from 
external events. The Company’s processes are periodically re-evaluated to ensure their effectiveness. Workers and managers 
at every level fulfill their respective roles to assure that the controls are maintained over time. The risk management process 
continues throughout the life cycle of the system, mission or activity.

Compliance risk

This risk is defined as the risk of not complying with laws, regulations and policies.

The operations of the Company are compliant with the Occupational Safety and Health Act 2005. Furthermore, the 
Company has a commitment to the protection of the environment, the welfare of its employees and towards the society 
at large.

Reputational risk

This risk arises from losses due to unintentional or negligent failure to meet a professional obligation to stakeholders.

The Company’s strong reputation revolves around effective communication and building solid relationships. Communication 
between the Company and its stakeholders has been the foundation for a strong reputation.

Risk management is considered by the Board to be an essential element of business strategy. It is a key responsibility of 
the Chief Executive Officer of National Investment Trust Limited and his team, and an activity which is overseen by the 
Board of Directors.

The Chief Executive Officer of National Investment Trust Limited works with his team to identify potential risks to the 
Company’s business rating identified risks by both probability and severity of impact. Necessary strategies and action 
plans are then developed to offset or mitigate those risks.

Strategic risk

Strategic risk refer to the internal and external events that may make it difficult, or even impossible, for a Company to 
achieve their objectives and strategic goals.
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Internal Control 

The Company maintains a system of financial control that is designed to provide assurance regarding the keeping of 
proper accounting records and the reliability of financial information used within the business and for publication. It also 
ensures compliance with internal procedures, statutory guidelines and regulations, accounting and financial reporting 
standards. 

Given the nature and small size of the Company the Board as a unit is responsible for the Company’s system of intemal 
control and for reviewing its effectiveness. In carrying out this function, the Board derives its information from regular 
management accounts and external audit reports. 

All accounting functions for the Company have been outsourced to UHY on 7th December 2020. 

As stated above, the Board has unrestricted access to the records of the Company and also has the right to seek independent 
professional advice, at the expense of the Company, to enable it to discharge its responsibility effectively. 

The Board is satisfied that a continual process for identifying, evaluating and managing the Company’s significant risks 
has been in place for the financial year and up to the date of this Annual Report. Furthermore, to date, no material fi-
nancial problems have been identified that would affect the results reported in these financial statements. The Board 
confirms that if significant weaknesses had been identified during this review, the Board would have taken the necessary 
steps to remedy them.

Internal audit

The Board is ultimately responsible for the Company’s internal control system and assessing its effectiveness. The inter-
nal audit function is outsourced by the Board on a regular basis so that an independent internal audit exercise can be 
carried out.

Principle 6 - Reporting with Integrity 

Health, Safety and Environmental Policies 

The National Investment Trust Ltd believes in providing and maintaining a safe and healthy work environment for all its 
employees. The objective being the optimization of work efficiency and the prevention of accidents at work through the 
implementation of safety standards. 

Furthermore, the Company carries out its activities in line with best green, environmentally-friendly and energy saving 
practices. 

Employee Share Option Plan 

The Company has no employee share option plan. 

Donations 

The Company made no donations during the year.

Whistle-Blowing Procedures 

The Committee will adopt the whistle-blowing procedures established by the Company’s Audit Committee, including any 
procedures that specifically address the confidential, anonymous reporting of any complaint or potential violation of law 
regarding the Company’s corporate governance procedures. 
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Any whistle-blowing individual should describe his or her complaint or concern in writing and should include sufficient 
information to allow the Corporate Governance Committee to understand and review the written complaint or concern. 
If such individual wishes to submit his or her complaint or concern on a confidential and anonymous basis, the written 
submission should clearly indicate this wish for confidentiality and anonymity. All complaints and concerns should be 
submitted to the Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee, at the address noted below, in a sealed envelope 
labelled as follows:

“To be opened by the Corporate Governance Committee only.” 
National Investment Trust Limited  
Level 8 Newton Tower  
Sir William Newton Street  
Port Louis

If a whistle-blowing individual wishes to discuss any matter with the Corporate Governance Committee, this request should 
be indicated in the submission. In order to facilitate such a discussion, such individual may include a telephone number 
at which he or she can be contacted. Any such envelopes received by the Company or Related Entities will be forwarded 
promptly and unopened to the Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee.

Code of Ethics 

National Investment Trust Ltd, believes that it is essential that all employees within the Company act in a professional 
manner and extend the highest courtesy to co-workers, visitors, clients and all other stakeholders. 

As such, the National Investment Trust Ltd. has adopted and conduct business by adopting a newly approved Code 
of Ethics approved by the Board on 26 October 2020. The Code is based on the important principle of respect. This 
fundamental principle applies to the clients, employees, Directors, shareholders, and the community in which the 
Company operates.
Moreover, the Code provides guidance to employees and the Board of Directors as to how to behave both in the 
immediate internal environment as well as external interactions. It also defines what is regarded as acceptable and not 
acceptable for the Company as a whole. 

All employees and the Board of Directors have taken cognizance of the National Investment Trust Limited new Code of 
Ethics and should act accordingly.

Principle 7 -Audit 
External Audit 

Deloitte have been appointed as external auditors in December 2020.

With regard to external audit, the Audit and Risk Committee is responsible for, inter-alia:

• reviewing the auditors’ letter of engagement;
• reviewing the terms, nature and scope of the audit; and its approach;
• ensuring that no unjustified restrictions or limitations have been placed on its scope;
• assessing the effectiveness of the audit process.

The external auditors have direct access to the Committee should they wish to discuss any matters privately. 

Auditors’ independence 

The Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring the external auditors’ independence, objectivity and compliance with 
ethical, professional and regulatory requirements; and for maintaining control over the provision of non-audit services. The 
external auditors are prohibited from providing non-audit services which might compromise their independence by 
requiring them to subsequently audit their own work. Any other non audit services provided by the external auditors 
are required to be specifically approved by the Audit and Risk Committee. Audit fees are set in a manner that enables 
an effective external audit. Auditors should ensure that they observe the highest standards of business and professional 
ethics and, in particular, that their independence is not impaired in any manner.
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Principle 8 -Relations with Shareholders and Stakeholders 

Share Price Information

At 30 June 2023, the share price of NIT Ltd was quoted at Rs 19.60 on the Official Market of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius.

Dividend Policy

The Company has no formal dividend policy. Dividend payments are determined by the profitability of the Company, its 
cash flow and its future investments.

A final dividend is declared on or about September each year.

Key dividend information over the past 3 years is shown below:

Shareholders’ Agreement

There exists no Shareholders’ Agreement to the knowledge of the Directors

Management Agreement

There is no management agreement with third parties, except with the eight funds under management namely, the NIT 
Local Equity Fund, NIT Global Opportunities Fund, NIT North America Fund, NIT Europe Fund, NIT Emerging Markets Fund, 
NIT Global Healthcare Fund, NIT Global Bond Fund and the NIT Global Value.

The funds do not have their own Board of Directors. However, all decisions relative to these schemes are taken by NIT Ltd 
(in its capacity as Manager) with the approval of the Trustee. 

Shareholders’ Communication

The Company’s Board of Directors places value-importance on open and transparent communication with all shareholders. It 
endeavors to keep them regularly informed on matters affecting the Company by official press announcements, disclosures 
in the Annual Report and at Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which all Board members are requested to attend.

NIT’s Annual Meeting provides an opportunity for shareholders to raise and discuss matters with the Board relating to the 
Company. Shareholders are encouraged to attend the Annual Meeting to remain informed of the Company’s strategy and 
goals.

Date Price (Rs) Yearly Change (%)

June 30,2023 19.60 (39)
June 30,2022 32.00 (9)
June 30,2021 35.00 -

2023 2022 2021
Capital Repayment per share (Rs) 7.30 -         -
Special Dividend per share (Rs) - 10.10 -

Ordinary Dividend per share (Rs) 0.60 0.70 1.00
Dividend cover (times) 0.57 0.95 0.2
Dividend Yield (%) 3.06 31.0 2.8



28 NIT Annual Report 2023

Calendar Of Forthcomings Events

December 2023 Annual meeting of Shareholders 

15th February 2024 Publication of half-year results to 31 December 2023

15th May 2024 Publication of third quarter results to 31 March 2024

September 2024 Publication of abridged audited end-of-year results to 30 June 2024

15th November 2024 Publication of first quarter results to 30 September 2024

December 2024 Declaration of dividend subject to the company receiving a dividend from SICOM Ltd

Company’s Registered Office

Since October 2009, the registered office of the Company is situated at Level 8 Newton Tower, Sir William Newton Street, 
Port Louis.
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Directors’ Report
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities
The directors present their annual report and the audited financial statements of National Investment Trust Ltd (the 
“Company” or “NIT”) for the year ended 30 June 2023.. 

Statutory Disclosures 
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated as a closed-end fund whose principal activity was to invest in shares and securities in 
both the local and international markets. 
In January 2008, the Company got the approval from the relevant authorities to go ahead with its plan to split its assets 
into three distinct and separate parts, namely:

(i) Sub-Fund 1: NIT Local Equity Fund, to hold all domestically quoted stocks;
(ii) Sub-Fund 2: NIT Global Opportunities Fund, to hold all overseas investments;
(iii) NIT Ltd, to hold the local unquoted shares and manage the above two funds.

The Company was granted a CIS Manager Licence on 21st June 2010 and, the NIT Unit Trust was authorized to operate 
as a Collective Investment Scheme under Section 97 of the Securities Act 2005 on 15 January 2013. Consequently, all 
investment activities carried out by the Company are now subject to certain restrictions. 

The Company currently manages 8 sub-funds.

Results And Dividends

The Statement of Profit or Loss and other Comprehensive Income of the Company for the year ended 30 June 2023 is 
set out on page 35 of this report. For the financial year under review, the Company’s profit after taxation amounted to 
Rs 9,306,541 (2022-Rs 312,923,580).

The Company has declared and paid dividends of Rs 16,443,000 (2022: Rs 295,974,000) during the financial year 30 June 
2023. Furthermore, the company made a capital repayment of Rs 200,000,000 (2022: nil). The directors have performed 
the required solvency test as required by the Companies Act 2001. 

Statement of  Directors Responsibilities 

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements which give a true and fair view of the financial 
position, financial performance and cash flows of the Company. The Company complies with the Companies Act 2001 
and with International Financial Reporting Standards.
They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Other main responsibilities of the Board of Directors include assessment of the management team’s performance relative 
to corporate objectives, overseeing the implementation and upholding of good corporate governance practices, acting as 
the central coordination body for the monitoring and reporting of sustainability performance of the Company and ensuring 
timely and comprehensive communication to all stakeholders on events significant to the Company.
Accounting records to be kept

The Board of Directors shall cause accounting records to be kept that:
• correctly record and explain the transactions of the Company;
• shall at any time enable the financial position of the Company to be determined with reasonable accuracy; and
• enable the Directors to prepare financial statements that comply with the Companies Act 2001 and International  
             Financial Reporting Standards.

In preparing those financial statements, the Directors are required to:
• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
• state whether or not the Companies Act 2001 and International Financial Reporting Standards have been    
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            adhered to and explain material departures thereto; and
• prepare these financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 
             Company will continue to operate within next financial year.

The Directors confirm that they have complied with the above requirements in preparing the financial statements.   

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for ensuring the preparation of the annual financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards and the responsibility of External Auditors to report on these financial 
statements. The Board also acknowledges its responsibility for ensuring the maintenance of adequate accounting records 
and an effective system of internal controls and risk management. 

The Board of Directors confirms that it endeavors to implement corporate governance best practice. Nothing has come 
to the Board’s attention, to indicate any material breakdown in the functioning of the internal controls and systems during 
the period under review, which could have a material Impact on the business. The financial statements are prepared from 
the accounting records on the basis of consistent and prudent judgments and estimates that fairly present the state of 
affairs of the Company. 

The Board of Directors confirms that it is satisfied the National Investment Trust Ltd has adequate resources to continue 
in business for the foreseeable future. For this reason, it continues to adopt the going concern basis when preparing the 
financial statements.

Directors

The Directors who served during the year are given below:

Chairman
Mr. Veenay Rambarassah (Appointed as Director on 16 April 2012 and, as Chairman on 02 June 2020)

Directors

Mrs. Amélie Vitry Audibert (Appointed on 29 May 2020)
Mrs Priscilla Balgobin-Bhoyrul (Appointed on 23 February 2023)
Mr. Teddy Blackburn (Appointed on 29 November 2021)
Mr. Khooshiramsing (Vinod) Bussawah (Appointed on 29 November 2021) 
Mr. Aslam Kathrada (Appointed on 29 May 2020 and not re-elected on 7 Dec 2022)
Mr. Roger Koenig (Appointed on 29 May 2020 and not re-elected on 7 Dec 2022)
Mr. Sébastien Pitot (Appointed on 29 May 2020 and resigned on 7 Dec 2022)

Directors’ Interests

(a) Contracts of significance (transaction > 5% of share capital and reserves)
There were no significant contracts or transactions during the year involving the Company and the Directors or their 
related parties outside the ordinary course of business.

(b) Directors’ Service Contracts
There are no service contracts between the Company and the Directors.

2023
Rs

2022
Rs

Audit Services 269,000 281,600

Auditors

Deloitte have expressed their willingness to continue in office and a resolution proposing their reappointment will be 
submitted for the approval of the Shareholders of the Company at the next annual meeting.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors

 27 September 2023

Veenay Rambarassah
Chairman

Teddy Blackburn
Director
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Independent Auditor’s
Report to the shareholders of the NIT Ltd
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of National 
Investment Trust Ltd (the “Company” and the “Public 
Interest Entity”) set out on pages 35 to 61, which 
comprise the statement of financial position as 
at 30 June 2023, and the statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income, statement of changes 
in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial state-
ments give a true and fair view of the f inancial 
position of the Company as at 30 June 2023, and 
of its financial performance and cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with International  
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and comply with 
the requirements of the Mauritius Companies Act 2001 
and the Financial Reporting Act 2004.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under 
those Standards are further described in the Auditor’s 

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the Company in 
accordance with the International Ethics Standard Board for 
Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(including International Independence Standards) (the “IESBA 
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that 
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgment, were of most significance 
in our audit of the financial statements of the 
current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial statements as a  
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do 
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

Valuation of unquoted equity investment at fair 
value through profit or loss

As at 30 June 2023, the Company had unquoted 
investment carried at fair value through profit or 
loss amounting to Rs. 886,170,000. 

In determining the fair value of the unquoted investment, 
management has applied valuation methods which 
require significant judgement and estimates based 
on the most appropriate source of data available. 
Changes in assumptions could affect the fair value of 
the investments. 

Accordingly, the valuation of the unquoted investment 
is considered to be a key audit matter, due to the 
significance of the assumptions, estimates and the 
level of judgement involved.

Reference to the relevant disclosure notes:  
See note 3.2, 4(a) and 7 to the financial statements. 

•      Our audit procedures included the evaluation of the design and implementation   
       of the key controls over the valuation of the investments process.
 
•      We involved our internal valuation specialist for the review of the valuation of   
       the investment.
 
•     We independently assessed the value of the investment and compared it to 
      the fair value recorded in the financial statements and no material differences 
      were noted. In making this independent assessment, we considered the nature of 
      the investee business and the industry practice for valuing such business.

•    We validated the sensitivities of the investment fair value to key factors.

• We evaluated the adequacy of the disclosures in the financial statements, 
including disclosures of key assumptions, sensitivities and judgements.
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Other Information 
The directors are responsible for the other information. 
The other information comprises the Directors’ Report, 
the corporate governance report and the Secretary’s 
certificate, but, does not include the financial statements 
and our auditor’s report thereon. 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover 
the other information and we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, 
our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to 
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of directors for the financial statements 
The directors are responsible for the preparation 
and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
and, in compliance with the requirements of the Mauritius 
Companies Act 2001 and the Financial Reporting Act 2004 
and they are also responsible for such internal control 
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the directors 
are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either 
intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, 
or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The directors are responsible for overseeing the 
Company’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we 
exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We 
also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstate-

ment of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit proce-
dures responsive to those risks, and obtain au-
dit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Company’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ 
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether 
a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of 
our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Company to cease to 
continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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We communicate with those charged with governance 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit.
We also provide those charged with governance with 
a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and 
to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
From the matters communicated with those charged 
with governance, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the financial 
statements of the current period and are therefore 
the key audit matters. We describe those matters in 
our auditor’s report unless laws or regulation precludes 
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely 
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should 
not be communicated in our report because the adverse  
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Mauritius Companies Act 2001 
 
In accordance with the requirements of the Mauritius 
Companies Act 2001, we report as follows: 

•    we have no relationship with, or interest in,the   
      Company other than in our capacity as auditor;

• we have obtained all information and explanations 
that we have required; and

• in our opinion, proper accounting records have 
been kept by the Company as far as appears from 
our examination of those records.

Financial Reporting Act 2004 

Corporate Governance Report 

Our responsibility under the Financial Reporting Act 2004 
is to report on the compliance with the Code of Corporate  
Governance disclosed in the annual report and assess 
the explanations given for non-compliance with any 
requirement of the Code. From our assessment of the 
disclosures made on corporate governance in the annual 
report, the Public Interest Entity has, pursuant to section 
75 of the Financial Reporting Act 2004, complied with the 
requirements of the Code. 

Use of this report 

This report is made solely to the Company’s 
shareholders, as a body, in accordance with 
section 205 of the Mauritius Companies Act 2001. 
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might 
state to the Company’s shareholders those matters we 
are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and 
for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by 
law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the Company and the Company’s shareholders 
as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the 
opinions we have formed.

Deloitte 
Chartered Accountants

27 September 2023

LLK Ah Hee, FCCA
Licensed by FRC
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Statement of Financial Position | for the year ended 30 June 2023

Notes 2023 
Rs

2022
 Rs

Assets
Non- Current Assets
Property and equipment 5(a) 24,745,269 26,160,246
Intangible assets 6 - -
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 7 984,952,105  1,047,309,686
Deferred tax assets 11(d) - 3,127,749

1,009,697,374 1,076,597,681

Current Assets
Other receivables 8 38,876,830 68,009,691 
Cash and cash equivalents 9 29,667,384 166,732,328 
Current tax asset 11(b) 247,920 -

68,792,134 234,742,019 

Total Assets 1,078,489,508 1,311,339,700 

Equity and Liabilities

Equity
Stated capital 10 27,405,000 274,050,000
Revaluation reserve 7,955,364 7,955,364
Retained earnings 1,005,793,470 983,058,479 
Total Equity 1,041,153,834 1,265,063,843 

Liabilities
Non Current Liabilities
Retirement benefit obligations 16 55,000 55,000
Deferred tax liabilities 11 (d) 2,080,188 -

2,135,188 55,000
Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables 12 35,200,486 15,117,029
Provisions 22 - 30,000,000
Current tax liabilities 11 (b) - 1,103,828

35,200,486 46,220,857

Total Liabilities 37,335,674 46,275,857

Total Equity and Liabilities 1,078,489,508 1,311,339,700

Authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 September 2023
and signed on its behalf by:

The notes on pages 39 to 61 form an integral part of the financial statements.

Veenay Rambarassah
Chairman

Teddy Blackburn
Director
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Notes 2023
Rs

2022
Rs

Income
Dividend income 13 18,947,568 16,343,321
Management fees 14 7,899,993 12,311,337
Interest income 15 481,404 174,457
Foreign exchange gains 5,149,830 3,607,032
Profit on sale of property & equipment - 778,334
Share of profit from limited partnership 7  - 8,388,145 
Other Income 129,915
Net changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 7 10,585,734 312,433,733

43,194,444 354,036,359 

Expenses
Administrative expenses 20 (21,569,307) (44,711,784) 
Share of loss from limited partnership (7,447,167) -
Profit before taxation 14,177,970 309,324,575
Tax (expense)/income 11 (c)  (4,871,429) 2,711,735         
Profit for the Year 9,306,541 312,036,310

Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss: 
Remeasurement of retirement benefit obligations 16 - 1,069,000
Income tax effect on remeasurement of retirement benefit 11(d) - (181,730)

Other comprehensive Income for the year, net of tax - 887,270           

Total comprehensive Income for the year 9,306,541 312,923,580

Earnings per share 18 0.34 11.39

Statement of Profit or Loss | And Other Comprehensive Income For The Year  Ended 30 June 2023

The notes on pages 39 to 61 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Retained Earnings
Stated 
Capital 

Rs

Property
Revaluation

reserve
Rs

Unrealised* 
Rs

Realised 

Rs

Total 
Retained 
Earnings

Rs

Total 

Rs

At 01 July 2021 274,050,000 7,955,364 784,122,525 181,986,374 966,108,899 1,248,114,263

Profit for the year - - - 312,036,310 312,036,310 312,036,310

Other comprehensive
income - - - 887,270 887,270 887,270

Total comprehensive 
income for the year - - - 312,923,580 312,923,580 312,923,580

274,050,000 7,955,364 784,122,525 494,909,954 1,279,032,479 1,561,037,843

Net fair value gain on 
FVTPL assets** - - 202,363,574 (202,363,574) - -

Transaction with owner:
Dividend (Note 17)

- - -  (295,974,000)  (295,974,000)  (295,974,000)

At 30 June 2022 274,050,000 7,955,364 986,486,099 (3,427,620) 983,058,479 1,265,063,843

Profit for the year - - - 9,306,541 9,306,541 9,306,541
Other Comprehensive 
Income - - - - - -

Total comprehensive 
income for the year

- - - 9,306,541 9,306,541 9,306,541

274,050,000 7,955,364 986,486,099 5,878,921 992,365,020 1,274,370,384

Net fair value gain on 
FVTPL assets** - - 3,138,567 (3,138,567) - -

Transaction with owner:

Movement for the year - - - - - -
Dividend (Note 17) - - - (16,443,000) (16,443,000) (16,443,000)
Reduction in share

Capital (Note 10) (246,645,000) - - 29,871,450 29,871,450  (216,773,550)
At 30 June 2023 27,405,000 7,955,364 989,624,666         16,168,804 1,005,793,470 1,041,153,834

Statement of Changes in Equity| For The Year  Ended 30 June 2023

The notes on pages 39 to 61 form an integral part of the financial statements.

*Accumulated fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit & loss

** As per the Company’s prospectus, capital gains arising from changes in value of investments, both realised and unrealised are credited to 
    non-distributable reserve and shall not be available for distribution.
 



38 NIT Annual Report 2023

Notes 2023 (Rs) 2022 (Rs)
Cash Flow from Operating Activities 
Profit before taxation 14,177,970 309,324,575
Interest Income 15  (481,404) (174,457)
Dividend income 13 (18,947,568) (16,343,321)
Net changes in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL 7 (10,585,734) (312,433,733)
Share of loss/(profit) from partnership 7 7,447,167 (8,388,145) 
Foreign exchange gains (5,149,830) (3,607,032)
Depreciation of property and equipment 5 1,448,327 1,936,657
Profit on sale of property and equipment                           5 - (778,334)
Provisions 22 373,173 30,000,000
Reversal of provisions - (6,004,332)
Retirement benefit obligations 16 - (2,725,000) 
Operating profit before working capital changes (11,717,899)               (9,193,122)

Decrease in other receivables 29,132,861 3,941,665
Increase in other payables  (1,762,018) 7,437,182
Cash Generated from Operating Activities 15,652,944 2,185,725

Interest Received 481,404 174,457
Dividend Received 18,947,568 16,343,321
Payment of voluntary retirement scheme 22 (30,373,173) -
Tax paid 11(b)  (1,015,241) (868,921)
Net Cash Generated from Operating Activities 3,693,502 17,834,582

Cash flows from Investing Activities
Contribution to Limited Partnership 7 (22,556,069) -
Proceeds from redemption of shares 7 1,586,823 285,755,187
Distribution from Limited Partnership 7 86,465,394 9,256,001 
Purchase of property and equipment 5  (33,350) -
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment - 1,505,000                    
Net cash generated from Investing activities 65,462,798 296,516,188

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Dividends paid  (16,443,000) (295,974,000) 

Payment on reduction in share capital  (194,928,074) -

Net Cash Used in Financing Activities (211,371,074) (295,974,000) 
(36,619,274)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (142,214,774) 18,376,770

Effect of foreign exchange rates  5,149,830 3,607,032

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the beginning of the Year 166,732,328 144,748,526

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the end of the Year 9 29,667,384 166,732,328

Statement of Cash Flows | for the year ended 30 June 2023

The notes on pages 39 to 61 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the 
National Investment Trust Ltd | for year ended 30 June 2023

1. General Information

National Investment Trust Ltd (the “Company”) was incorporated in Mauritius on 18 March 1993 and its principal activity is 
to invest in shares and securities in both the local and international markets. The Company is listed on the Stock Exchange 
of Mauritius. The Company’s registered office is Level 8, Newton Tower, Sir William Newton Street, Port Louis.

The Company was granted a CIS Manager Licence on 21 June 2010, issued by the Financial Services Commission and 
acts as the manager of NIT Local Equity Fund, NIT Global Opportunities Fund and six new Funds incorporated during 
the year 2015. As a CIS Manager, all investment activities carried out by the Company are subject to certain restrictions.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies 
have been consistently applied to all year presented, unless stated otherwise.

2.1 Basis of presentation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 
and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) interpretations issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and its related bodies. The financial statements have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention, except for fair valuation of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and freehold 
building that are measured at revalued amounts. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration 
given in exchange for goods and services. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It 
also requires the directors to exercise their judgment in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. The 
areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to 
the financial statements are described in Note 4. 

Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards 
In the current year, the Company have applied all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 
(“IFRIC”) of the IASB that are relevant to its operations and effective for accounting periods beginning on 1 July 2022.   

(i) New and revised standards that are effect but with no material effect on the financial statements

The following relevant revised Standards have been applied in these financial statements. Their application has not 
had any significant impact on the amounts reported for the current and prior perrods but may affect the accounting 
treatment for future transactions or arrangements: 

IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment - Amendments prohibiting a company from deducting from the cost of 
property, plant and equipment amounts received from selling items produced while the Bank is preparing the 
asset for its intended use

IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets - Amendments regarding the costs to include when 
assessing whether a contract is onerous 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments - Amendments resulting from Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018 - 2020 (fees 
in the ‘10 per cent’ test for derecognition of financial liabilities)
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(ii) New and revised Standards and Interpretations in issue but not yet effective
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following relevant new and revised Standards were in 
issue but effective on annual periods beginning on or after the respective dates as indicated:

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements - Amendments regarding classification of liabilities (effective 1 January 
2024)

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements - Amendments regarding the classification of liabilities as current and 
non-current (effective 1 January 2023) 

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements - Amendments regarding the classification of debt with covenants 
(effective 1 January 2024)

IAS 7       Statement of cash flows - Amendments regarding supplier finance arrangements (effective 01 January 
2024)

IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors - Amendments regarding the definition of 
accounting estimates (effective 1 January 2023)

IAS 12 Income Taxes - Amendments regarding deferred tax on leases and decommissioning obligations (effective 01 
January 2023)

IAS 12 Income Taxes - Amendments to provide a temporary exception to the requirements regarding deferred tax assets 
and liabilities related to pillar two income taxes (effective 01 January 2023)

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments Disclosure - Amendments regarding supplier finance arrangements (effective 01 January 
2024)

IAS 16 Leases - Amendments to clarify how a seller-lessee subsequently measures sale and leaseback transactions (ef-
fective 01 January 2024)

The directors anticipate that these Standards and Interpretation will be applied on their effective dates in future periods. 
The directors have not yet had an opportunity to consider the potential impact of the application of these amendments. 

2.2 Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency

The performance of the Company is measured and reported to the investors in Mauritian Rupee (“Rs”). The directors 
consider the Mauritian Rupees (“Rs” or “MUR”) as the currency that most faithfully represents the economic effects of 
the underlying transactions, events and conditions. The financial statements are presented in Rs, which is the Company’s 
functional and presentation currency. 

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates 
of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from 
the translation at period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
are recognised in statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Non-monetary items measured at 
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date when the fair value was determined. 
Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of their fair value gain or loss. 
Non-monetary items measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at 
the date of the initial transactions.

2.3 Financial Instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Company’s statement of financial position when the 
Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to 
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as 
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Financial assets 

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way 
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established 
by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending 
on the classification of the financial assets.

Classification of financial assets

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at amortised cost:

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual 
cash flows; and

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at fair value through other comprehensive 
income (FVOCI):

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash 
flows and selling the financial assets; and

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

By default, all other financial assets are measured subsequently at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).
Despite the foregoing, the Company may make the following irrevocable election/designation at initial recognition of a 
financial asset:
• the Company may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in other 

comprehensive income if certain criteria are met; and

• the Company may irrevocably designate a debt investment that meets the amortised cost or FVOCI criteria as measured 
at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i) Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating 
interest income over the relevant period. 
For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are credit impaired 
on initial recognition), the effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including 
all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other 
premiums or discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition. For purchased 
or originated credit-impaired financial assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is calculated by discounting the 
estimated future cash flows, including expected credit losses, to the amortised cost of the debt instrument on initial 
recognition. 

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus the 
principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between that 
initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is 
the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for debt instruments measured subsequently at amortised 
cost and at FVOCI. For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is 
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial 
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that have subsequently become 
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial 
asset. . If, in subsequent reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the 
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross 
carrying amount of the financial asset.
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For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, the Company recognises interest income by applying the 
credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from initial recognition. The calculation 
does not revert to the gross basis even if the credit risk of the financial asset subsequently improves so that the financial 
asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included in the ‘income’ line item (note 15).

(ii) Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVTPL. 

Specifically:

• Investments in unquoted instruments are classified as at FVTPL, unless the Company designates an equity invest-
ment that is neither held for trading nor a contingent consideration arising from a business combination as at FVOCI 
on initial recognition.

• Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised cost criteria or the FVOCI criteria are classified as at FVTPL. In 
addition, debt instruments that meet either the amortised cost criteria or the FVOCI criteria may be designated as at 
FVTPL upon initial recognition if such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition 
inconsistency (so called ‘accounting mismatch’) that would arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising 
the gains and losses on them on different bases. The Company has not designated any debt instruments as at FVTPL.

• Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or 
losses recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are not part of a designated hedging relationship.

Foreign exchange gains and losses
The carrying amount of financial assets that are denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency 
and translated at the spot rate at the end of each reporting period. Specifically:
• for financial assets measured at amortised cost that are not part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange 

differences are recognised in profit or loss in the ‘other gains and losses’ line item; and

• for financial assets measured at FVTPL that are not part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange differences 
are recognised in profit or loss in the ‘other gains and losses’ line item.

Impairment of financial assets

The Company recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on investments in debt instruments that are measured 
at amortised cost or at FVOCI. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes 
in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.

For these financial instruments, the Company recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase in credit 
risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial instrument has not increased significantly since 
initial recognition, the Company measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to 12 
month ECL

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the expected life 
of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from 
default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

(a) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has Increased significantly since initial recognition, the Company 
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on 
the financial instrument at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Company considers both quantitative 
and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking Information 
that is available without undue cost or effort. Forward looking information considered includes the future prospects of the 
industries in which the Company’s debtors operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial analysts, governmental 
bodies, relevant think-tanks and other similar organisations, as well as consideration of various external sources of actual and 
forecast economic information that relate to the Company’s core operations. 

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly 
since initial recognition:

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;
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• significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk for a particular financial Instrument, e.g. a significant 
increase in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor, or the length of time or the extent to which 
the fair value of a financial asset has been less than its amortised cost;

• existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant 
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;

• significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtor; and

• an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the 
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Company presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has 
increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the 
Company has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise. 

Despite the foregoing, the Company assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly 
since initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date.

A financial instrument is determined to have a low credit risk if:

1. the financial instrument has a low risk of default;
2. the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and
3. adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not 
             necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

The Company regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant 
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

(b) Definition of default
The Company considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk management purposes as 
historical experience indicates that financial assets that meet either of the following criteria are generally not recoverable:

• when there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor; or 
• information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its 

creditors, including the Company, in full (without taking into account any collateral held by the Company).
Irrespective of the above analysis, the Company considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is more 
than 90 days past due unless the Company has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more 
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(c) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future 
cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable 
data about the following events:

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower; 
• a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event ;
• the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having 

granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;
• it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or the disappearance 

of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

(d) Write off

The Company writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial 
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has 
entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts are over two years past due, 
whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Company’s 
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recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit 
or loss. 

(e) Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses
The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of 
the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss given default 
is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as described above. As for the exposure at default, 
for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date; for financial guarantee 
contracts, the exposure includes the amount drawn down as at the reporting date, together with any additional amounts 
expected to be drawn down in the future by default date determined based on historical trend, the Company’s understanding 
of the specific future financing needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking information. 

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due 
to the Company in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Company expects to receive, discounted 
at the original effective interest rate.
If the Company has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previ-
ous reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, 
the Company measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting date, except for 
assets for which the simplified approach was used. 
The Company recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding 
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account, except for investments in debt instruments that 
are measured at FVOCI, for which the loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in 
the investment revaluation reserve, and does not reduce the carrying amount of the financial asset in the statement of 
financial position. 

Derecognition of financial assets
The Company derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, 
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another 
entity. If the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues 
to control the transferred asset, the Company recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for 
amounts it may have to pay. If the Company retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred 
financial asset, the Company continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing 
for the proceeds received. 

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity 

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of 
the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument. 

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any ·contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its 
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.  

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is 
recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments. 

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.
However, financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does not qualify for derecognition or when the 
continuing involvement approach applies, and financial guarantee contracts issued by the Company, are measured in 
accordance with the specific accounting policies set out below. 

Financial liabilities measured subsequently at amortised cost
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest 
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expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs 
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter 
period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability. 

Accruals and other payables 
Accruals and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequent stated at amortised cost. The difference 
between the proceeds and the amount payable is recognised over the period of payable using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Company derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Company’s obligations are discharged, cancelled 
or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration 
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss. 

2.4 Property and equipment

Freehold building is stated at its revalued amounts in the statement of financial position, being the fair value based 
on periodic valuations by external independent valuers, less subsequent depreciation for building. A revaluation 
surplus is credited to other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity. All other property and equipment is 
recognised at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the items. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when 
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can 
be measured reliably. 

An item of property and equipment and any significant part initially recognised, is derecognised upon disposal or when 
no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset, 
calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, is included in profit 
or loss when the asses is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of profit or loss 
during the financial year in which they are incurred. 
Depreciation is calculated using straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values over their estimated 
useful lives. The annual depreciation rates are as follows:

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. 
Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated receivable amount, it is written down immediately 
to its recoverable amount. 

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected 
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, 
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and 
is recognised in profit or loss.  

2.5 Intangible assets
Software 

Acquired software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific 
software. Software with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation is recognised on a written-down-value basis at the rate of 25% per annum. The estimated useful life and 
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being 
accounted on a prospective basis.
Costs associated with maintaining software programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred. Development costs 
that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique software products controlled by the 
Company are recognised as intangible assets when the following criteria are met:

Freehold Building 5 %

Computer Equipment 20 %

Office equipment 10 %

Motor vehicles 20 %
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• it is technically feasible to complete the software product so that it will be available for use;

• management intends to complete the software product and use or sell it;

• there is an ability to use or sell the software product;

• it can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future economic benefits; 

• adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the software product 
are available; and 

• the expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be reliably measured.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the software product include the software development employee 
costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads. Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria 
are recognised as an expense as incurred. Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as 
an asset in a subsequent period. 

Computer software development costs recognised as assets are amortised over their estimated useful lives, which does 
not exceed 4 years.

2.6 Other receivables 
Other receivables are recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised costs using the effective interest 
rate method.

2.7 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position consist of cash at bank with a maturity of three 
months or less, which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and short-term deposits, 
net of outstanding bank overdrafts as they are considered an integral part of the Company’s cash management.

2.8 Stated capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

2.9 Current and deferred income tax
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. 

Current tax 

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before tax’ as reported in 
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because of items of income or expense that are taxable or 
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible.

Deferred tax 
Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial 
statements and the corresponding tax bases in the computation of taxable profit. 

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally 
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available 
against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. 

Deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group and 
the Company expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. 

Current and deferred tax for the year 

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

2.10 Retirements benefits obligations
For defined benefit retirement benefit plans, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the projected unit credit 
method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at the end of each annual reporting period. Remeasurement, comprising 
actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the changes to the asset ceiling (if applicable) and the return on plan assets 
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(excluding interest), is reflected immediately in the statement of financial position with a charge or credit recognised 
in other comprehensive income in the period in which they occur. Remeasurement recognised in other comprehensive 
income is reflected immediately in retained earnings and will not be reclassified to profit or loss. Past service cost is 
recognised in profit or loss in the period of a plan amendment. Net interest is calculated by applying  the discount 
rate at the beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liability or asset present value of the pension obligations 
depends on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a number of assumptions. The 
assumptions used in determining the net cost for pensions include the discount rate. Any changes in these 
assumptions will impact the carrying amount of pension obligations.

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefits plan are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered 
services entitling them to the contributions.

Defined benefit costs are categorised as follows:

• Service cost (including current service cost, past service cost, as well as gains and losses on curtailments and  
             settlements)
• Net interest expense or income
• Remeasurement

The Company presents the first two components of defined benefit costs in profit or loss. Curtailment gains and losses 
are accounted for as past service costs. 

For employees who are insufficiently covered under the pension plan, the net present value of gratuity on retirement 
payable under the Workers’ Rights Act and Employment Rights Act is calculated by AON Hewitt and provided for.  The 
provisions arising under this item are not funded.

State plan 
Contributions to the National Pension Scheme and defined contribution plan are recognised in profit or loss in the year in which 
they fall due.

2.11 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, 
it is probable that the Company will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation 
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.

2.12 Revenue recognition
Management fee 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. 

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in a contract with a customer. 
Revenue is recognised when or as an entity satisfies a performance obligation by transferring control of a promised service 
or asset to a customer. Control is either transferred over time or at a point in time. 
Management fee receivable from the Funds by the Company as the Manager is based on 0.6% to 1.25% (2022: 0.6% 
to 2%) of the Net Asset Value of the underlying Sub Funds. Management fees are recognised over time, the fees are 
calculated on a weekly basis and receivable quarterly in arrears. 
Other revenues earned by the company are recognised on the following bases:

- Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective rate applicable. 
- Other income is recognised on accrual basis.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive payment has been established.

2.13 Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Company’s financial statements in 
the period in which the dividends are approved by the Board of Directors.

2.14 Comparatives
Where necessary, comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with changes in presentation in the current 
year.
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2.15 Related parties
Related parties are individuals and companies where the individual or company has the ability, directly or indirectly, to 
control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions 
or is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity. An entity is related to a reporting entity if 
both of them are members of the same group or one of them is either an associate or joint venture of the other entity. 

2.16 Segmental reporting 
Management monitors the operating results of its business on a “Company” basis for the purpose of making decisions 
about resource allocation and performance assessment. As such, management considers that there is only one 
reportable segment, that is, the Company itself.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
3.1 Financial risk factors
The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest 
rate risk, cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company’s overall risk management 
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the 
Company’s financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by management under policies approved by the board of directors. The board provides 
written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange 
risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, and investment of excess liquidity.

(a) Market risk
Foreign exchange risk

The Company holds assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the Mauritian Rupee. Consequently, the 
Company is exposed to currency risk, as the value of the assets and liabilities denominated in other currencies will fluctuate 
due to changes in exchange rates. The Company’s policy is not to enter into any currency hedging transactions.

The currency profile of the Company’s financial assets (excluding prepayments) and liabilities is summarised as follows:

The exchange rate risk arises mainly out of the cash balances held in foreign currencies and Company’s investment in 
the foreign securities which are denominated in USD. The currency risk between the foreign currency of the investments 
and the functional currency of the Company fluctuates with market movements. 

The following table details the Company’s sensitivity to a 10% change in the Mauritian Rupee against the relevant foreign 
currencies. The 10% represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. 
A positive number below indicates an increase in profit and equity where the Mauritian Rupee weakens 10% against the 
relevant foreign currencies. For a 10% strengthening of the Mauritian Rupee against the relevant foreign currencies, there 
would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit and equity and the balance below would be negative. 

2023
Rs

2022
Rs

Increase in pre-tax profit/equity:
USD 16,102,591 25,932,480 

EURO 138 13,098 

Financial Assets
 2023

Rs

Financial Liabilities 
2023

Rs

Financial Assets 
2022

Rs

Financial Liabilities 
2022

Rs
Mauritian Rupee   891,845,320 35,200,486 1,022,069,696 15,117,029 
United States Dollar 161,024,523 - 259,324,795 -
Euro 1,383  - 130,982  -

1,052,871,226 35,200,486 1,281,525,473 15,117,029 
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Price risk
The Company is not exposed to securities price risk as it does not have any investments that are listed for which prices 
in the future are uncertain.

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that fair values of financial assets and liabilities, as reported in the Company’s statement of 
financial position could change due to fluctuations in prevailing levels of market interest rates. All of the Company’s 
financial assets and liabilities are non-interest bearing except of cash and cash equivalents which are placed at short 
term interest rates.

The directors consider that the Company is not subject to significant amount of risk arising from changes in interest rates 
on cash and cash equivalents as these are short term in nature and changes in their values or interest cash flows in the 
event of a change in interest rates will not be material. Therefore, no interest rate risk sensitivity analysis on cash and 
cash equivalents has been performed. However, changes in interest rates could impact on earnings of entities in which 
the Company has invested in.

Credit risk

The Company takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay amounts in 
full when due. Impairment provisions are made for losses that have been incurred at the end of the reporting period, if 
any. The Company’s main credit risk concentration is associated with cash and cash equivalents and other receivables.

The bank balances are held with reputable financial institutions whose credit risks are minimal. The credit risk for non-current 
receivables is considered negligible since the counterparties are managed by the company and have adequate funds. 

Accordingly, the Company has no significant concentration of credit risk. None of the Company’s financial assets are 
impaired nor past due but not impaired. 

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company may not be able to generate sufficient cash resources to settle its obligations 
in full as they fall due or can only do so on terms that are materially disadvantageous.

The table below analyses the Company’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining 
period at the end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity date. The amounts in the table are the contractual 
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances, as impact of discounting is not 
significant.

At Call
Rs

Less than 1 year
Rs

More than 1 year
Rs

Total
Rs

2023
Financial liabilities
Other payables - 35,200,486 - 35,200,486 

2022
Financial Liabilities
Other payables - 15,117,029 - 15,117,029

3.2 Fair value estimation
The carrying amounts of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, 
borrowings and other payables approximate their fair values. 

The fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss that are not traded in an active market is determined 
by using valuation techniques. The techniques used by the Company are explained in Note 4.2 (a).

IFRS 13 requires the Company to classify fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significant 
inputs used in making the measurements:

• Quoted prices (unadjusted ) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1).
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• Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that 
is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (Level 2).

• Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs). 

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety is determined on the 
basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. For this purpose, the significance 
of an input is assessed against the value measurement in its entirety. If a fair value measurement uses observable inputs that 
require significant adjustments based on observable inputs, that measurement is a level 3 measurement.

Level 1
Rs

Level 2
Rs

Level 3
Rs

Total
Rs

At 30 June 2023
Financial assets designated at FVTPL

Unquoted equities - 98,782,105 886,170,000 984,952,105

At 30 June 2022
Financial assets designated at FVTPL
Unquoted equities - 174,219,686 873,090,000 1,047,309,686

The following table summarises the quantitative information about the significant unobservable inputs used in level 3 
fair value measurements: 

Fair Value at Unobservable Inputs Total

Level 3 Equity 
investments*

Rs. 886,170,000
(2022: Rs. 873,090,000)

Value of assets and liabilities
(2022: Value of assets and 

liabilities)

 An increase/decrease of 100 ba-
sis point will increase/decrease 
the fair value by Rs 8,861,700 

(2022: Rs 8,730,900)

Level 2
Securities

Rs. 98,782,105
(2022: Rs. 174,219,686)

Value of assets and liabilities
(2022: Value of assets and 

liabilities)

An increase/decrease of 100 
basis point will increase/

decrease the fair value by Rs 
987,920 (2022: Rs 1,742,197)

*There has been no change in the valuation method for Level 3 Equity Investment in the current year as the method used is considered by 
management to be the most appropriate method for valuation of this investment
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3.4 Capital risk management

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern 
in order to provide returns to its shareholder and to maintain an optimal structure to reduce cost of capital.

The Company monitors capital on the basis of gearing ratio, which is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net 
debt is calculated as total borrowings less cash equivalents. The Company regards “equity” as shown on the statement 
of financial position as capital. Total capital is calculated as equity plus net debt as shown in the statement of financial 
position.

The Company was not geared at 30 June 2023 as it did not have any borrowings.

4. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the directors to exercise its judgement in the 
process of applying the accounting policies. It also requires the use of accounting estimates and assumptions that may 
affect the reported amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Judgements and estimates are continuously 
evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations and assumptions concerning 
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The actual results could therefore, by definition, 
often differ from the related accounting estimates. 
4.1 Judgements 
Where applicable, the notes to the financial statements set out areas where the directors have applied a higher degree 
of judgement that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements, or estimates and as-
sumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year are discussed below: 

Determination of functional currency 
The determination of the functional currency of the Company is critical since recording of transactions and exchange differ-
ences arising thereon are dependent on the functional currency selected. As described in Note 2, the directors have consid-
ered those factors therein and have determined that the functional currency of the Company is the “Rs”. The directors consider 
“Rs” as the currency that most faithfully represents the economic effects of the underlying transactions, events and conditions. 

4.2 Estimates 

Assumptions and estimates are made based on parameters available when the financial statements were prepared. Existing 
circu_mstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances 
arising beyond the control of the Company. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur. 

Financial assets at 
amortised cost 

2023
Rs

Financial assets at 
FVTPL 
2023

Rs

Total

2023
Rs

Financial assets 
at amortised cost 

2022
Rs

Financial assets at
 FVTPL 
2022

Rs

Total

2022
Rs

Financial 
assets at 
FVTPL

-         984,952,105   984,952,105 - 1,047,309,686 1,047,309,686

Receivables 
(excluding 
prepayments)

38,251,737 - 38,251,737 67,483,459 - 67,483,459 

Cash and 
cash 
equivalents

29,667,384 - 29,667,384 166,732,328 - 166,732,328

67,919,121 984,952,105 1,052,871,226 234,215,787 1,047,309,686 1,281,5251.473 

Financial liabilities at 
FVTPL 
2023

Rs

Other financial 
liabilities at amortised 

cost 2023
Rs

Total

2023

Rs

Financial liabilities 
at FVTPL 

2022
Rs

Other financial 
liabilities 

at amortised cost
2022

Rs

Total

2022

Rs

Other 
Payables - 35,200,486 35,200,486 - 15,117,029 15,117,029

3.3 Financial instruments by category
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a. Fair value of unquoted investments

When the fair value of financial assets recorded in the statement of financial position cannot be derived from active 
markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation techniques that include the use of mathematical models. The 
inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where it is not feasible, a degree of 
judgement is required in establishing fair value.

b. Asset lives and residual value

Property and equipment are depreciated over its useful lives taking into account residual values, where appropriate. The 
actual lives of the assets and residual values are assessed annually and may vary depending on a number of factors. In 
reassessing asset lives, factors such as technological innovation, product life cycles and maintenance programmes are 
taken into account. Residual value assessments consider issue such as future market conditions, the remaining life of the 
asset and projected disposal values. Consideration is also given to the extent of current profits or losses on the disposal 
of similar assets. 

C. Depreciation policies

Property and equipment are depreciated to their residual values over their estimated useful lives. The residual value of 
an asset is the estimated net amount that the Company would currently obtain from the disposal of the asset; if the asset 
were already of the age and in condition expected at the end of its useful life.

The directors therefore make estimates based on historical experience and use of best judgement to assess the useful 
lives of assets and to forecast the expected residual values of the assets at the end of their expected useful lives.

5(a) PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Freehold 
Building

Rs

Computer
 Equipment

Rs

Office 
equipment

Rs

Motor 
vehicles

Rs

Total

Rs

Cost or revaluation 
At 1 July 2021 27,400,000 4,621,237 8,579,182 3,700,000 44,300,419
Disposal - - - (3,700,000) (3,700,000)

At 30 June 2022 27,400,000 4,621,237 8,579,182 - 40,600,419
Additions - 33,350 - - 33,350

At 30 June 2023 27,400,000 4,654,587 8,579,182 - 40,633,769

Accumulated Depreciation
At 1 July 2021 114,167 4,303,500 8,579,182 2,480,000 15,476,849
Charge for the year 1,370,000 73,324 - 493,333 1,936,657
Revaluation adjustment - - - (2,973,333) (2,973,333)

At 30 June 2022 1,484,167 4,376,824 8,579,182 - 14,440,173
Charge for the year 1,370,000 78,327  -  - 1,448,327
At 30 June 2023 2,854,167 4,455,151 8,579,182 - 15,888,500

Net Book Value
At 30 June 2023 24,545,833 199,436 - - 24,745,269

At 30 June 2022 25,915,833 244,413 - - 26,160,246

(b) Revaluation Reserve

The revaluation reserve arises on the revaluation on freehold building. When revalued freehold building are   sold, the 
portion of the revaluation reserve that relates to that asset is transferred directly to retained earnings. Items of other 
comprehensive income included in the revaluation reserve will not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

The freehold building was revalued at Rs. 27,400,000 on 28th May 2021 by Messrs Elevante Property Services Ltd, in-
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6. Intangible Assets

Softwares 2023
Rs

2022
Rs

Cost

At 01 July and 30 June 2,156,365 2,156,365

Accumulated Amortisation
At 01 July and 30 June 2,156,365 2,156,365

Net book value
At 30 June - -

dependent valuers, not related to the Company. A revaluation surplus amounting to Rs. 7,955,364 was credited to a 
revaluation reserve in equity for the year ended 30 June 2021. The Company revalues freehold building every 2 to 3 
years. The directors have assessed that there has been no changes in the valuation as at 30 June 2023. Messrs Elevante 
Property Services Ltd are members of the RICS and they have appropriate qualifications and experience in the 
fair valuation of properties in the relevant location. The fair value of the building was determined based on the sales 
comparison approach.  

The fair value of the building is classified into level 3 fair value hierarchy. Had the Company’s freehold building been 
measured on a historical basis, the carrying value would have been Rs. 15,018,352 (2022: Rs. 16,331,057).
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7. Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss

Unquoted Investments
30 June 2023 Domestic equity

Investment

Rs

Foreign 
investment

Rs

Total

Rs

At 1 July 873,090,000 174,219,686 1,047,309,686
Contribution to Limited Partnership  - 22,556,069 22,556,069
Distribution from Limited Partnership  - (86,465,394) (86,465,394)

Share of profit from Limited Partnership  - (7,447,167) (7,447,167)

Redemption of shares (1,586,823) (1,586,823)

Net changes in fair value 13,080,000 (2,494,266) 10,585,734

At 30 June 886,170,000 98,782,105 984,952,105

Unquoted Investments
30 June 2022 Domestic equity

Investment

Rs

Foreign 
Investment

Rs

Sub-Funds established under 
NIT Unit Trust

Rs

Total

Rs

At 1 July 567,277,259 248,524,306 270,803,864 1,086,605,429
Contribution to Limited Partnership - 76,789,073 - 76,789,073
Distribution from Limited Partnership - (151,151,507) -  (151,151,507)

Share of profit from Limited Partnership - 8,388,145  - 8,388,145
Redemption of shares - (13,306,174) (272,449,013) (285,755,187)
Net changes in fair value 305,812,741 4,975,843  1,645,149 312,433,733

At 30 June     873,090,000 174,219,686 - 1,047,309,686

(a) Portfolio of unquoted domestic equity investment

Holdings Fair Value
Equity investment 2023

Units
2022
Units

2023
Rs

2022
Rs

State Insurance Company of Mauritius Ltd
(SICOM)

30,000 30,000 886,170,000 873,090,000

Holdings Fair Value
2023

Units/%
2022

Units/%
2023

Rs
2022

Rs
LIM Opportunistic Credit Fund 1 2.44 22.35 - 4,081,089
LIM Opportunistic Credit Fund 2 LP 3.9448% 3.9448% 14,522,065 79,658,239
LIM Opportunistic Credit Fund 3 LP  4.0736% 4.0736% 84,260,040 90,480,357
Total 98,782,105 174,219,686

(b) Portfolio of Foreign Securities



55NIT Annual Report 2023

(c) Significant holdings
Details of investments in which the Company holds a 10 % interest or more are set out below:

Name of investee Class of Shares 
2023 & 2022

Holdings  2023 Holdings 2022

State Insurance Company of Mauritius Ltd (“SICOM”) Ordinary 12% 12 %

8. Other Receivables
2023

Rs
2022

Rs
Amount receivable from related parties (Note 19) 3,142,242 2,377,025
Deposits and prepayments 625,093 526,232
Receivable from LIM Opportunistic Credit Fund 3 LP 35,109,495 56,831,878
Receivable from LIM Opportunistic Credit Fund 2 LP -  8,274,556

38,876,830 68,009,691 

The receivables from LIM Opportunistic Credit Fund 2 LP and LIM Opportunistic Credit Fund 3 LP relate to the distributions 
receivable net of capital calls made by these investee entities to the Company and both parties have agreed to the 
settlement of the net balance. The receivables will be settled against future capital calls.

The terms and conditions of the related party transactions and balances have been disclosed in Note 19.

9. Cash and Cash Equivalents

2023
Rs

2022
Rs

Cash at bank 29,656,600 166,726,263
Cash in hand 10,784 6,065

29,667,384 166,732,328

10. Stated Capital

2023
Rs

2022
Rs

Issued and Fully Paid
At 01 July 274,050,000 274,050,000
Reduction in share capital (246,645,000) -

At 30 June 27,405,000 274,050,000

27,405,000 shares of Rs 1 each (2022: Rs 10 each) 27,405,000 274,050,000

Ordinary shares are not redeemable and confers to the holder one voting right per share and right to receive dividends. 
On winding up, the holder of an ordinary share will be entitled to surplus on assets.

Following a shareholder’s meeting dated 15 December 2022, it was resolved to reduce the share capital of the Company 
by Rs 9 per share through a cash distribution of Rs 216,773,550 and an appropriation of capital of Rs 29,871,450 which has 
been transferred to retained earnings.
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11. Taxation
The Company is subject to income tax at the rate of 15% (2022: 15%) on its tax adjusted profits. The Company is also 
entitled to Corporate Social Responsibility tax, calculated at 2% on its chargeable income of preceding year.

(a) Tax expense/(income)

2023
Rs

2022
Rs

Provision for the year 493,240 1,810,183
Deferred tax (credit)/expense 5,207,937 (4,521,918) 
Over provision of tax in previous year (829,748) -
Tax (income)/expense 4,871,429 (2,711,735) 

(b) Tax (assets)liabilities

2023
Rs

2022
Rs

Balance at 1 July 1,103,828 162,566
Provision for the year 493,240 1,810,183
Tax paid during the year (274,082) (162,565)
Tax paid under APS (741,158) (706,356)
Over provision of tax in previous year (829,748) -

(247,920) 1,103,828

(c) Tax reconciliation

2023
Rs

2022
Rs

Profit before tax 14,177,970 309,324,575 

Income tax at 17% tax effect of: 2,410,255 52,585,178 
- Non taxable income (4,630,114) (58,917,232) 
- Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 7,768,949 3,739,140 
- Corporate Social Responsibility tax 152,087 (118,821) 
- Overprovision of tax in previous years (829,748) -
Tax charge/(income) 4,871,429 (2,711,735) 

(d) Deferred tax (assets)/liabilities

2023
Rs

2022
Rs

At 1 July (3,127,749) 1,212,439
Charge to profit and loss 5,207,937 (4,521,918) 
Charge to other comprehensive income - 181,730 
At 30 June 2,080,188 (3,127,749) 

Deferred tax (assets)/liabilities arise from:
Retirement benefit obligations (9,349) (9,349) 
Provisions - (5,100,000)
Accelerated capital allowances 2,089,537 1,981,600 

2,080,188 (3,127,749) 
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2023
Rs

2022
Rs

Accruals 1,809,817 1,662,143
Unclaimed Dividends 10,311,675 13,454,886
Amount due to shareholders on capital reduction 21,845,475 -
Management fee payable to Orange Eight 1,233,519 -

35,200,486 15,117,029

12. Trade and Other Payables

14. Management Fees

2023
Rs

2022
Rs

Management fees (Note 19(i)) 7,899,993 12,311,337

The Company acts as an investment manager for the Sub Funds established under the NIT Unit Trust. The Sub Funds do not have 
any employee and all of their investing and operating activities are performed by the Company, in return the Company charges a 
management fee of 0.6% to 2% (2022: 0.6% to 1.25%) of the Net Asset Value of the underlying Sub Funds. 

As from 03rd April 2023, the Company has partnered with Orange Eight Ltd to assist on the investment management. In exchange of 
this service Orange Eight Ltd will benefit from a 50 % share of the management fees paid by NIT Unit Trust.

13. Dividend Income 

2023
Rs

2022
Rs

Domestic dividend 18,947,568 16,343,321

15. Interest Income

2023
Rs

2022
Rs

Interest income on:
Interest on Fixed Deposits 481,404 174,457

481,404 174,457



58 NIT Annual Report 2023

2023
Rs

2022
Rs

Present value of unfunded obligations 55,000 55,000

Movement in liability recognised in statement of financial position are as 
follows: 

2023
Rs

2022
Rs

At 01 July 55,000 3,849,000
Total expenses recognised in profit or loss - (2,725,000) 
Actuarial gains recognised in other comprehensive income - (1,069,000) 
At 30 June 55,000 55,000

2023
Rs

2022
Rs

Amount recognised in statement of profit or loss: 
Current service cost - (2,725,000) 
Interest cost - -
Underprovision in prior year - -
At 30 June - (2,725,000) 

Amount recognised in other comprehensive income: 
Experience gains on the liabilities - -

The principal actuarial assumptions used are: 2023 2022
Discount rate - 5.0%
Future salary increases - 2.8%
Sensitivity analysis on actuarial assumptions:
Increase due to 1% decrease In discount rate - Rs 807,000
Decrease due to 1 % increase in discount rate - Rs 626,000
Increase due to 1% increase in pay increase rate - Rs 827,000
Decrease due to 1 % decrease in pay increase rate - Rs 652,000

The sensitivity analysis have been carried out by recalculating the present value of obligation at end of period after increasing the 
discount rate/salary increase rate while leaving all other assumptions unchanged. The results are particularly sensitive to a change in 
discount rate/salary increase rate due to the nature of the liabilities being the difference between the pure retirement gratuities under 
the Workers Rights Act 2019 and the deductions allowable, being five times the annual pension provided and half the lump sum received 
by the member at retirement from the pension fund with reference to the Company’s share of contributions.  

16. Retirement Benefit Obligations
The Company has set up its own pension fund, the NIT Pension Fund, and has set a defined contribution scheme for its 
employees as from September 2010. The Company makes the following contribution in respect of each member admitted 
to the pension scheme:

-  12% of the member’s pensionable emoluments plus a further percentage to match 50% of any contribution made by the  
    member, up to a maximum further contribution of 3% of the member’s pensionable emoluments.

-  a further percentage of the member’s pensionable emoluments by mutual agreement between the Company and the 
   member of the pension scheme.

As at 30 June 2023, except for 3 administrative staffs, all of its employees have availed the Voluntary Retirement Scheme 
of the Company have left.  The residual retirement gratuities is deemed not to be material at reporting date and no 
actuarial valuation was performed.

The liability relates to employees whose residual retirement gratuities under the Workers Rights Act 2019 exceeds the 
contribution made under the defined contribution plan. The Company provides for a lump sum at retirement based on 
final salary and years of service.
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17. Dividend

2023
Rs

2022
Rs

Dividend of Rs 0.60 per share (2022: Dividend of Rs 0.70 per share on 21 Jan 22 
and Rs 10.10 on 15 Mar 22)

16,443,000 295,970,998

18. Earnings per Share

2023
Rs

2022
Rs

Profit for the year 9,306,541 312,036,310 

Number of shares  27,405,000  27,405,000

Earnings per share 0.34 11.39 

The calculation of basic earnings per share for the year ended 30 June 2023 is based on the income attributable to ordinary 
equity holders of Rs 9,306,541 (2022: Rs. 312,036,310) and the number of shares of 27,405,000 (2022: 27,405,000). 

19. Related Party Balances and Transactions
Related parties are individuals and companies where the individual or company, directly or indirectly, has the ability to 
control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operational decisions.

The Company is making the following disclosures in respect of related party transactions:

Account Payables
2023

Rs

Account Receivables
2023

Rs

Account Payables
2022

Rs

Account Receivables
2022

Rs
Outstanding balances
Receivables from related parties
NIT Local Equity Fund 3,750 639,177 44,008 321,210
NIT Global Opportunities Fund 3,750 1,121,399 459,534 349,215
NIT Global Bond Fund 128,223 166,546 130,458 84,636
NIT Global Value Fund 112,957 285,859 146,814 397,098
NIT North America Fund 124,649 130,363 143,188 399,406
NIT Europe Fund 143,205 317,213 - 164,795
NIT Emerging Markets Fund 109,811 339,897 116,017 378,416
NIT Global Healthcare Fund 119,700 141,788 144,799 282,249

746,045 3,142,242 1,184,818 2,377,025

The amounts due from related parties are unsecured, interest free and with no fixed term of repayment.

The amount due to the related parties are unsecured, interest free and repayable within one year.

Defined contribution pension plan: 2023
Rs

2022
Rs

Contribution paid to DC Scheme  525,000 1,506,778

State pension plan:

Contribution paid - 372,993
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Transactions 2023
Rs

2022
Rs

(i) Management fees
- NIT Local Equity Fund 2,802,659 4,602,929
- NIT Global Opportunities Fund 4,928,532 6,093,017
- NIT Emerging Markets Fund 35,464 358,996
- NIT Europe Fund 6,342 153,771
- NIT Global Bond Fund 8,388 79,926
- NIT Global Healthcare Fund 58,068 267,156
- NIT Global Value Fund 40,915 376,528
- NIT North America Fund 19,625  379,014

7,899,993  12,311,337

(ii) Key Management Personnel
Compensation to key management personnel 1,781,786 2,395,200 

20. Administrative Expenses

2023
Rs

2022
Rs

Salaries and allowances 5,192,245  6,846,340 
Retirement benefit obligation - (2,725,000) 
Pension fund & State contribution 525,000 868,524
Director fees 1,125,275 1,096,625
Office supplies and consumables 805,866 1,206,946
Corporate information expenses 648,799 2,182,462
Audit fees 269,000 281,600
Professional fees 4,927,869 5,370,880
Listing fees 663,080 561,974
Secretarial fees 696,689 595,010
General expenses 1,056,000 293,924
Bank charges 191,962 203,602
Reference books and subscriptions 131,208 30,336
Rent, telephone and electricity 829,561 852,357
Repairs and maintenance 314,515 253,090
Motor vehicles running expenses - 158,055
Depreciation of property and equipment 1,448,327 1,936,658
Insurance 1,117,619 718,733
Write Back - (16,000)
Reversal of provision ex-gratia and performance bonus - (6,004,332) 
VRS & Restructuring Adjustment (note 23) 373,173 30,000,000
GRA expense  19,600 -
Management fees expense 1,233,519 -

21,569,307 44,711,784
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21. Subsequent Events 
There have been no subsequent events till date of approval of the financial statements.

22. Provisions
In the wake of the ongoing restructuring process approved by the shareholders of the Company on 19th December 2021, 
a voluntary retirement scheme (VRS) has been implemented with the objective of curtailing cost and, ensuring that an 
attractive and sustainable dividend can be paid going forward.  A provision of Rs 30m was included in the June 2022 
accounts to this effect. An amount of Rs 30,373,173 was paid in financial year 2023 in respect to the voluntary retirement 
scheme. 

23. Contingent Liabilities
During the reporting period, a former employee of Company instigated a law case against the Company for unfair dismissal 
for an amount of Rs 167M plus interest at the rate of 12% since the date of the termination of employment.

The Company’s lawyers have recommended that it be contested based on merits. No provision has been made in these 
financial statements as the Company’s management does not consider that there is any probable loss. The outcome of the 
court case is yet to be determined. At year end there is no probability of a court settlement and the hearing of the case is 
to be held in year 2024.
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RESOLUTIONS FOR AGAINST ABSTAIN
1.   To approve the Minutes of Proceedings of the Annual Meeting of Shareholders 
      held on 7th December 2022.
2.   To receive, consider and approve the Company’s audited financial statements 
      for the year ended 30 June 2023, including the Annual Report and the Auditor’s 
      report, in accordance with section 115(4) of the Companies Act 2001.
3.     To re-elect Mrs Amélie Vitry AUDIBERT as director of the Company;

4.     To re-elect Mrs Priscilla Balgobin-Bhoyrul as director of the Company;
5.     To re-elect Mr Teddy Blackburn as director of the Company;
6.     To re-elect Mr Kooshiramsing Bussawah as director of the Company;
7.    To re-elect Mr Veenay Rambarassah as director of the Company;
8.   To appoint, as Director of the Company to hold office until the next annual  
      meeting of the shareholders, Mr Dheerendra Kumar Dabee who was nominated  
       by the Board of Directors on 7 September 2023.
9.   To appoint Moore as auditors of the Company until the next Annual Meeting  
      and to authorise the Board of Directors to fix their remuneration.
10. To transact such other business, if any, as may be transacted at an Annual   
      Meeting.

NATIONAL INVESTMENT TRUST LTD 
 (“the Company”) 

PROXY FORM  

I/We

being a member of NATIONAL INVESTMENT TRUST LTD, do hereby appoint

or in his absence

of

as my/our proxy, to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the Annual Meeting of the Shareholders to be held 
on 19 December 2023 at Caudan Arts Centre, Port Louis and at any adjournment thereof.

I/We desire my/our vote(s) to be cast on the Resolutions as follows:

Notes:

1.        A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at this meeting may appoint a proxy (whether a member or not) to attend and vote on 
           his   behalf. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company. The appointment of a  proxy must be made in writing on a proxy form and deposited 
          at the Registered Office of  the Company, Level 8 Newton Tower, Sir William Newton Street, Port Louis not less than twenty-four hours before 
          the meeting, and in default, the instrument of proxy shall not be treated as valid.

2.       For the purpose of this Annual meeting, the Directors have resolved, in compliance with Section 120(3) of the Compa-nies Act 2001, that the 
            shareholders who are entitled to receive notice of the meeting and attend such meeting shall be those shareholders whose names are registered 
          in the share register of the Company as at 28 November 2023.

Signed this .......................................... day of .......................................... 2023 .......................................................
 Signature of shareholder/s

of

of
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